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4. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the events giving rise to the claims 

alleged in this complaint occurred in the Eastern District of Wisconsin, and because the Defendants 

and property at issue in this action are located in this district. 

5. The Attorney General is authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 3612(o) to commence this civil action 

to enforce the Fair Housing Act. 

THE PARTIES AND SUBJECT PROPERTY 

6. Plaintiff is the United States of America. 

7. The residential property at issue in this action is an apartment building located at 409 N. 

Ashland Ave. Apt. A, Green Bay, Wisconsin (the “Subject Property”). 

8. The Subject Property is a “dwelling” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 3602(b). 

9. At all relevant times, the Subject Property was owned by Defendant D Jones Properties 

LLC and managed by Defendant David Jones. 

10. Mr. Jones is a resident of the state of Wisconsin. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

11. In early September of 2021, Complainant  was in desperate need of housing. 

12. After a period of homelessness, she made the decision to relocate from Milwaukee to Green 

Bay to move in with her grandmother. 

13. Ms.  was twenty-four years old at the time and had a two-year-old son. 

14. Although Ms.  was grateful for her grandmother’s assistance, she considered the 

situation temporary as she wanted to be independent. 

15. Ms.  grandmother lived in a property managed by Mr. Jones. 

16. Based on her grandmother’s referral, Ms.  reached out to Mr. Jones to see if he had 

an apartment available for her to rent. 
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So I put the 2x4 up for MY peace of mind you have seen it SEVERAL 

TIMES AND NEVER SAID A THING 

 

NOW ALL OF A SUDDEN YOU SAY THIS IS YOUR PROPERTY AND 

THE BOLT ISNT SUPPOSE TO BE THERE. 

 

That’s very disturbing and disruptive to my peace. 

 

55. Later that same day Mr. Jones issued a “lease termination notice” stating that Ms.  

lease would be terminated on April 14, 2022. Mr. Jones provided no reason for the termination 

and he took this action in retaliation for Ms.  sending the text message described above and 

otherwise resisting his advances.   

56. On April 20, 2022, Mr. Jones filed an eviction suit against Ms. in state court. 

57. While the eviction action was pending, Ms. filed a fair housing complaint with HUD 

on August 1, 2022. A letter notifying Mr. Jones of this complaint was mailed out on August 1, 

2022, and Ms.  also informed Mr. Jones that she had filed the complaint. 

58. A final eviction hearing was held on August 4, 2022. 

59. At the time of the hearing, Ms.  rent had been paid through July 2022 by rent 

assistance and she had been approved for additional payments through September. 

60. Nevertheless, Mr. Jones asked the court to issue an order of eviction; the court granted this 

request on August 4, 2022, with an effective date of August 31, 2022. 

61. Mr. Jones evicted Ms.  in retaliation for her asserting her right to be free from sex 

discrimination in housing under the Fair Housing Act. 

62. Left with no other choice, Ms.  and her son moved out of their home at the end of 

August 2022. 

63. Mr. Jones’ conduct caused Ms.  to suffer economic damages, a loss of a housing 

opportunity, and significant fear, anxiety, and emotional distress. 
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HUD ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS 

64. As noted above, on August 1, 2022, Ms.  filed a timely complaint of housing 

discrimination with HUD, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3610(a), naming Mr. Jones and D Jones 

Properties LLC as respondents. 

65. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3610, the Secretary of HUD conducted and completed an 

investigation of the complaint, attempted conciliation without success, and prepared a final 

investigative report. 

66. Based on the information gathered in the investigation, the Secretary of HUD, pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 3610(g)(1), determined that reasonable cause existed to believe that the Defendants 

violated the Fair Housing Act. 

67. On June 5, 2025, the Secretary of HUD issued a Charge of Discrimination, pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 3610(g)(2)(A). 

68. On June 24, 2025, Ms. elected to have the charge resolved in a federal civil action, 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3612(a). 

69. The Secretary of HUD subsequently authorized the Attorney General to file this action on 

behalf of Ms. pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3612(o). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR HOUSING ACT 

70. The United States realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above. 

71. By the actions and statements describe above, Defendants have: 

a. Denied dwellings or otherwise made dwellings unavailable because of sex, in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a); 
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b. Discriminated in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the rental of a dwelling, or 

in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of sex, in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b); 

c. Made statements with respect to the rental of dwellings that indicate a preference, 

a limitation, or discrimination based on sex, in violation 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c); and 

d. Coerced, intimidated, threatened, or interfered with a person in the exercise or 

enjoyment of, or on account of him or her having exercised or enjoyed, or on 

account of him or her having aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise 

or enjoyment of, a right granted or protected by 42 U.S.C. § 3604, in violation of 

42 U.S.C. § 3617. 

72. As a result of Defendants’ conduct,  has been injured and is an “[a]ggrieved 

person” as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i). 

73. Defendants’ discriminatory conduct was intentional, willful, and/or taken in disregard of 

the rights of Ms.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the United States requests that this Court enter an order: 

1. Declaring that Defendants’ actions, policies, and practices, as alleged in this Complaint, 

violate the Fair Housing Act; 

2. Enjoining Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, successors, and all other persons 

in active concert or participation with them, from: 

a. Discriminating on the basis of sex, including engaging in sexual harassment, in any 

aspect of the rental of a dwelling; 
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b. Coercing, intimidating, threatening, or interfering with any person in the exercise 

or enjoyment of, or on account of his or her having exercised or enjoyed, or on 

account of his or her having aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise 

or enjoyment of any right granted or protected by the Fair Housing Act; 

c. Failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to restore, as 

nearly as practicable, the victims of the Defendants’ past unlawful practices to the 

position they would have been in but for the discriminatory conduct; and 

d. Failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to prevent 

the recurrence of any discriminatory conduct in the future and to eliminate, as 

nearly as practicable, the effects of the Defendants’ unlawful practices; 

3. Ordering Defendants to take such actions as may be necessary to prevent the recurrence of 

any discriminatory conduct in the future and to eliminate, to the extent practicable, the effects of 

their unlawful conduct, including implementing policies and procedures to ensure that no 

applicants or residents are discriminated against on the basis of sex; 

4. Awarding  monetary damages, including actual and punitive damages, under 

42 U.S.C. §§ 3612(o)(3) and 3613(c)(1) for injuries caused by Defendants’ violations of the Act; 

and 

5. Awarding such additional relief as the interests of justice may require. 

 

Respectfully submitted this 24th day of July, 2025. 

 

       RICHARD G. FROHLING 

       Acting United States Attorney 

 

By: s/ Niabi K. Schmaltz  
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 NIABI K. SCHMALTZ  

 Assistant United States Attorney  

 Wisconsin Bar No. 1104724 

 Office of the United States Attorney 

 Eastern District of Wisconsin 

 517 East Wisconsin Avenue, Room 530 

 Milwaukee, WI  53202 

 Telephone: (414) 297-4516 

 Fax: (414) 297-4394 

Email: nia.schmaltz@usdoj.gov 
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